SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STANLEY CAMPBELL

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,873 1st District - No. 88-02599

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



WILLIAM J. DORSEY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 161510 211 Liberty Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 358-8060 Attorney for Petitioner STANLEY CAMPBELL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant below and the Defendant at Trial. Respondent was the Appellee below and the Prosecuting authority at trial. The authorities will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

Citations to the record on appeal are designated hereinafter as "R-" with the appropriate page number inserted thereafter. Citations to the trial transcript are designated as "T-" with the appropriate page number inserted thereafter. Citations to the supplemental trial transcript are designated as "ST-", with appropriate page number inserted thereafter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Defendant/Appellant, STANLEY CAMPBELL, was convicted of trafficking in cocaine under §893.135(1)(b)(3), Fla.Stat., by a jury in the Circuit Court, for the Fourth Judicial Circuit. Campbell was sentenced to 30 years imprisonment by the Honorable David C. Wiggins.

Campbell appealed his conviction and sentence to the First District Court of Appeal. The Court affirmed Campbell's conviction, but reversed his sentence and remanded for resentencing. The District Court of Appeal certified that its decision directly conflicted with the decision of the Third District on the same point of law. Campbell duly appealed his conviction.

On June 2, 1988, Detective Daniel Locey (hereinafter "Locey"), an undercover detective with the Fort Lauderdale Police Department [T-16] was introduced to Appellant as someone who wanted to purchase cocaine. [T-18]. The introduction was made by a confidential informant who had himself been arrested and was working with the police in order to obtain a reduction of his own prison sentence. [T-52].

Appellant did not want to travel from his home in Savannah, Georgia to Fort Lauderdale to consummate the transaction, so it was agreed that he and Locey would meet in Jacksonville, an intermediary point. Appellant wanted to purchase two kilograms of cocaine. [T-18]. Locey told Appellant that Appellant would have to pay \$5,000.00 "good faith and expense money up front to show

that he was serious about doing the cocaine". [T-18]. Appellant said that he would send the money the next day. [T-18]. The transaction was scheduled to transpire on Monday, June 6, 1988. [T-19].

The following day in a second conversation, Appellant called Locey in Fort Lauderdale saying he could not wait for Locey to come to Jacksonville and that he wanted to go to Fort Lauderdale over the weekend to consummate the transaction. However, Locey refused and insisted on the original schedule. [T-19]. It was further agreed during the second conversation that Appellant would send only \$3,000.00 in lieu of the original \$5,000.00 requested by Locey. [T-19].

Locey made arrangements with the Jacksonville's Sheriffs Office to assist him in the investigation in Jacksonville. [T-20].

Appellant sent \$3,000.00 to Locey on June 3, 1988 and Locey then called Appellant to confirm that he had received the money. [T-27-34, 36]. Additionally, at that time the total amount of cocaine requested by Appellant was increased from two to four kilograms. [T-34].

Locey taped his telephone conversations with Appellant and the tape recordings of the conversations were played during the trial and recorded by the court reporter. [T-23-26, 28-33, 35-36].

Locey arrived in Jacksonville and, after several additional telephone calls with Appellant, Locey anticipated meeting Appellant to complete the transaction at 3:30 p.m. on June 6, 1988. [T-38]. However, it was not until approximately 7:50 p.m. that Locey was

able to contact Appellant at a telephone booth in Jacksonville. Locey was waiting at a motel on University Avenue in Jacksonville with 15 to 20 other detectives, but Appellant insisted on doing the deal at Jax Liquor Store at 8th Street off of Route I-95 in Jacksonville. [T-40]. Locey equipped himself with a body bug and proceeded to the Jax Liquor Store to meet Appellant. [T-40, 41].

When Locey arrived he observed Appellant parked at a Chevron Station next to the Jax Liquor Store and approached Appellant's automobile. [T-41]. Locey told Appellant that he wanted to see Appellant's money and Appellant showed Locey a green bank bag containing money. [T-43]. But no money was ever exchanged. [T-63].

After some discussion at Appelllant's car, Appellant drove across the street to the MacDonalds restaurant where other undercover detectives where waiting in an automobile. [T-41]. Locey crossed the street on foot and met Appellant's car at the rear of the MacDonalds, directing him around to the front of the MacDonalds where the police car was situated. [T-42]. Locey and Appellant got out of Appellant's car and got in the back seat of the car in which the other detectives were waiting. [T-43].

Locey then obtained a kilogram of cocaine from one of the other detectives. Locey gave the bag of cocaine to Appellant, who held it in his hand and on his lap, commenting that the bag seemed small for one kilogram, opened the bag, pulled some cocaine out and tasted it. [T-44, 49, 61]. A discussion ensued concerning the quality of the cocaine [T-44] after which Appellant exited the

undercover police car, allegedly to return to his own car to get the money to pay for the cocaine. [T-49, 62]. Locey also exited the car telling the Appellant that he was going to the trunk of the detective's car to get the rest of the cocaine. [T-63]. There was, in fact, no more cocaine in the car [T-61]. Appellant was arrested as he walked across the parking lot. [T-45].

Locey and another State witness, Allen O'Hara, testified that Appellant was never alone with the cocaine and could not have physically left with the cocaine until he had paid the detectives money. [T-63, 72]. Appellant never took the cocaine out of the car, nor did an exchange of money ever occur. [T-71]. After Appellant's arrest, Detective Locey located the bag of money by the driver's seat of Appellant's vehicle. [T-58].

The state's witness Allen O'Hara testified as follows:

Q Detective O'Hara, at the time the defendant left the car leaving that one kilo that he had tasted in the car, was he to go get money at that time?

A Yes, he was.

Q He had never given you any money before that?

A No, he did not.

Q And no exchange had been made at all, no exchange of cocaine for money?

A Not at that time, no.

* * *

Q Detective O'Hara, you testified in response to one of Mr. Grimm's questions that there was no exchange of cocaine for money at that time. There never was a time when there was an exchange of cocaine for money, was there?

A No, sir.

[T-73, 74]. Locey testified that a tape recording was made of the transaction from the body bug attached to his person. [T-45]. All or part of the tape recording was played at the trial and recorded by the court reporter. [T-46-48].

The cocaine originated in the police property room and was placed back in the police property room for shipment to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement after Appellant's arrest. [T-85, 86].

After his arrest, Appellant was searched and found to be carrying a .38 caliber small automatic pistol hidden in his pants. [T-64, 78, 79]. None of the detectives was aware that Appellant was armed at any time prior to Appellant's arrest. [T-61].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal erred in not applying the holdings of <u>Garces v. State</u> 485 So.2d 847 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986) and <u>Roberts v. State</u> 505 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1987) on temporary control and possession of contraband to this case.

Appellant was caught in a reverse sting operation by officers from the Ft. Lauderdale Police Department. The officers required Appellant pay \$3,000.00 in advance in order to continue negotiations. Appellant wired the money to unknown persons in Ft. Lauderdale. Three days later Appellant met with undercover agents in Jacksonville. His actions at the meeting mirror the actions of the defendants in Garces and Roberts. Appellant took temporary control of the contraband to check for quality then left the bag in the officers' possession. Under current case law, Appellant never had "possession" of the cocaine. Therefore the District Court erred in not applying Garces to the instant case.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S RULING THAT CAMPBELL'S TEMPORARY CONTROL OF COCAINE FOR VERIFICATION PURPOSES CONSTITUTED "POSSESSION" CONFLICTS WITH CONTROLLING FLORIDA LAW ON TRAFFICKING AND POSSESSION ESTABLISHED IN <u>GARCES V. STATE</u> 485 So.2d. 847 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986), THUS SHOULD BE SET ASIDE.

The elements of the crime charged were read by the trial court as part of the standard jury instruction on trafficking but the trial court declined to give the special instruction on possession and temporary control requested by the Appellant's counsel. The requested charge was based on controlling state law as defined in <u>Garces v. State</u> 485 So.2d 847 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986). <u>Garces</u> states that "[t]emporary control of the contraband in the presence of the actual owner, for the purpose of verifying that it is what it purports to be, or to conduct a sensory test for quality, prior to the completed transaction, without more, does not constitute legal possession." <u>Id.</u> at 848. See also, <u>Roberts v. State</u> 505 So.2d 547, 550 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1987) Failure to give this charge to the jury is a reversible error.

A. Campbell did not have cocaine on his person or premises when arrested.

"Actual possession exists where the accused has physical possession of the controlled substance and knowledge of such physical possession." <u>Brooks v. State</u> 501 So.2d 176, 177 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1987) (Quoting <u>Willis v. State</u> 320 So.2d 823, 824 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1975)). Clearly, the Appellant here did not have physical possession of any cocaine when he was arrested in the parking lot.

Therefore, the State was required to prove the Appellant constructively possessed the cocaine in order to sustain the trafficking charge.

B. The First District Court of Appeal's finding of constructive possession directly conflicts with the current definition of possession as defined by <u>Garces</u> and its progeny.

Proof of constructive possession requires that the State establish the Appellant: 1) had dominion and control over the cocaine; 2) knew the substance was within his presence; and 3) knew the illicit nature of the substance. <u>Elias v. State</u> 526 So.2d 1014, 1015 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 1988). See also, <u>Roberts</u> 505 So.2d at 549; <u>Hively v. State</u> 336 So.2d 127, 129 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1976). If the premises in which the controlled substance is found is in the exclusive possession of the Appellant, then the State may infer dominion and control, and must only prove the remaining two If however, as with the case at bar, the premises are elements. not in the exclusive possession of the Appellant, the State must prove dominion and control over the contraband, as well as Maisler v. State 425 So.2d 107, 108 (Fla. 1st knowledge of it. DCA, 1983) A passenger in a car is not considered in "possession" ELS_v. State 547 So.2d 298, 299 (Fla. 3d DCA, of the vehicle. 1989) (citing Maisler 425 So.2d at 108) In the instant, the cocaine was in the officer's car, and dominion and control may not be inferred from Appellant's brief time in the back seat of the car.

Carter v. State 481 So.2d 1252 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986), cited in

the First District Court's opinion to sustain an inference of dominion and control by circumstantial evidence, is clearly distinguishable. The defendant in <u>Carter</u> was only a passenger in the vehicle, but the vehicle was registered in her name, she was leaving a known "cocaine-cutting" house and her fingerprints were on the bag of cocaine taken from the trunk upon her arrest. <u>Id.</u> at 1253 The overwhelming circumstantial evidence presented in <u>Carter</u> was not presented in the case here, thus should not be relied upon to establish Appellant's dominion and control over the cocaine.

Garces is the leading case defining possession under §893.135, Fla.Stat. In that case, the parties, including the undercover police officers, met at one defendant's house, discussed the method of exchange, then retrieved the money and cocaine from their vehicles and returned to the house. The defendants proceeded to examine the cocaine but were arrested before money was exchanged. Relying on Sobrino v. State 471 So.2d 1333 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1985), the court held that the circumstances supported no more than attempted trafficking under the applicable statutes, to wit: §893.135(1)(b), §777.04(1), Fla. Stat., but not the completed offense, because the arrest occurred before the defendant had actual or constructive possession. <u>Garces</u> 485 So.2d at 848. The Court concluded that temporary control of the cocaine for verification purposes was not enough to prove legal possession. A year after the <u>Garces</u> decision, the Third District Court of Appeal, in Roberts, followed and extended it's holding on temporary control.

In Roberts the defendant was caught in a sting operation and

was convicted of possession of marijuana. The defendant weighed the sample bale, examined the marijuana, agreed to buy the marijuana, and produced money. <u>Roberts</u> 505 So.2d at 543. The defendant was arrested as the undercover officers were bringing the remaining bales into the house. While noting the differences between that case and <u>Garces</u>, the Court held that the exchange of money without delivery did not establish dominion and control to constitute possession. "Transitory touching of the bale" by Roberts for inspection purposes was not legal possession under <u>Garces</u>. Id. at 549.

The First District Court of Appeal applied the principal of Roberts and Garces to a reverse sting operation of a different nature. In Jefferson v. State 549 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1989), Jefferson, a deputy sheriff with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office, was filmed meeting with an undercover agent who presented him with a bag of cocaine. The agent said the bag was already sold, but was After some discussion, a sample of the quality available. Jefferson snorted a small amount of the cocaine to test it, then returned the bag to the table. No sale ever occurred, but Jefferson was arrested based on the evidence from the film. The court held that "Jefferson's actions did not constitute legal possession of all of cocaine in the bag." Id. at 224 The evidence showed that Jefferson took temporary control of the cocaine for the sole purpose of testing its authenticity and quality. "Such temporary control for specific but limited purpose, without consummation of a completed transaction does not constitute legal

possession." Id. at 224. Therefore Jefferson could not be convicted of trafficking more than 28 grams as charged since he did not have dominion and control of the bag. The court did hold though, that the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction of the lesser included offense of possession of cocaine under §893.13(1)(e), Fla. Stat., for the small quantity Jefferson tested.

C. The <u>Garces</u> holding on temporary control is applicable to the case at bar.

In the case at bar, Appellant and the police arranged the meeting, the quantity and the price of the cocaine through a series of telephone conversations. [T-23-26, 28-33, 35-36, 39-40]. Appellant wired \$3,000.00 to Detective Locey, at his request, in order to show "good faith and for expenses" [T-18] days before the meeting in Jacksonville. When the parties finally met, Appellant got into the back seat of the officer's car with Locey and was handed a one kilogram sample of the cocaine to inspect it. [T-43-The First District Court agreed, Appellant's conduct 44]. (Note: in wiring the money to a person unknown to him was less than professional, as was his willingness to enter a car occupied by three (3) strangers). After tasting the cocaine, Appellant commented on the quality of the cocaine, then put the bag down on the seat. He and Detective Locey then exited the car ostensibly for Appellant to get money from his car on the far side of the parking lot and for Locey to get the "remaining" three bags from the trunk. Appellant was arrested in the parking lot. [T-63, 72]. Clearly under the holding of Garces and Roberts, Appellant did not

have dominion and control of the cocaine, thus can not be convicted of trafficking under §893.135(1)(b)(3).

Detectives Locey and O'Hara of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department both testified that Appellant approved the sample but could not have left with any cocaine until after the money had been paid. [T-63, 72] As Detective O'Hara testified, Appellant and Locey exited the car to get the money and three kilos respectively to "do the transaction" but no sale was ever consummated. [T-70] There was "never an exchange of cocaine for money" [T-73] emphasis added. Thus, the \$3,000.00 "good faith" money was not considered by the participants to be a down payment assuring Appellant of at least partial dominion and control of the cocaine. Appellant's actions demonstrate that he did not have dominion and control over the contraband. Appellant placed the bag on the seat of the police car after testing the cocaine for the quality and got out of the car.

The partial payment of money without the owner actually releasing dominion and control does not automatically transfer possession. <u>Roberts</u> 505 So.2d at 550. Roberts agreed to buy marijuana and some money was exchanged, yet the court held that neither the part payment, nor the inspection, nor the agreement to buy marijuana, gave Roberts possession of the sample bale or the unseen bales left in the agent's truck. The <u>Roberts</u> analysis is clearly applicable to the case at bar. <u>Roberts</u> applied <u>Garces</u> to a different fact pattern and further explained the requirements for "possession". Therefore, even if the \$3,000.00 Appellant wired to

Detective Locey is considered a partial payment, rather than simply "good faith" money to insure a meeting, then the <u>Roberts</u> analysis states that this alone, without more, does not establish dominion and control.

The District Court noted the similarities between this case and Garces and Roberts, but relied on Carter, 481 So.2d at 1252, to state that the \$3,000.00 payment raised the "inference" of dominion Campbell v. State 558 So.2d 34, 38 (Fla. 1st DCA, and control. This is inappropriate for several reasons: 1) As noted 1989) previously, the circumstantial evidence in Carter was particularly strong, including possession of the premises in which the contraband was found. Carter 481 So.2d at 1253. Since Roberts states that a partial payment alone is not enough to prove dominion and control, \$3,000.00 payment in advance, will not support an inference of possession; 2) The actions of Appellant and the agents indicate the \$3,000.00, whether considered "good faith" money or considered a down payment, did not give Appellant a possessory interest in four kilograms of cocaine. The money simply showed an intent to continue negotiations for a possible sale. Detective O'Hara testified that there was no exchange of cocaine for money [T-73], meaning the \$3,000.00 did not buy Appellant even a small amount of cocaine. It was an all-or-nothing proposition which never took place. The police maintained possession of all of the cocaine at all times. After testing, Appellant returned the cocaine and was exiting towards his vehicle, presumably to get money to purchase the alleged four kilograms of cocaine. As in both

<u>Roberts</u> and <u>Garces</u> there was a preliminary agreement to do a deal, but no exchange of goods by the two sides, hence no transfer of possession.

Furthermore, Appellant could not have been said to have gained dominion and control over the cocaine, by advancing the 3,000.00by wire to unknown and unreliable persons. In <u>Richter v. U.S.</u>, 663 F.Supp. 68 (S.D.Fla., 1987), the court stated that checks sent to an unknown person could not be considered a sale in the ordinary course of business. <u>Id.</u> at 70 A request for that type of payment should have put the purchaser on notice of the risk of attempting such a transaction. In the case at bar, as with <u>Richter</u>, the Appellant made payments under questionable circumstances, to potentially gain possession, but both were denied.

Additionally, the advance payment by Appellant before inspection of the goods, as required by Detective Locey, does not constitute acceptance of the goods. §672.512, Fla.Stat. Though this attempted transaction involved illegal goods, the principles of contract law are still applicable here. The buyer has the right to inspect goods before accepting them, §672.513, Fla.Stat. and anything short of full payment does not make the sale absolute Encore, Inc. v. Olivetti Corp. 326 So.2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1976).

> D. This Court must resolve the conflict between the districts presented by the First District Court of Appeal's refusal to apply current case law on possession.

As indicated by <u>Roberts</u> and <u>Jefferson</u>, there are multiple factual situations to which the <u>Garces</u> analysis is applied. The

narrow distinction the First District Court attempts to draw, inferring possession by Appellant and distinguishing this case from current case law, cannot be sustained. The circumstances here are clearly analogous to those in <u>Garces</u> and <u>Roberts</u>. The defendants, in all three cases, gained temporary control of the contraband from undercover officers for the <u>sole</u> purpose of confirming the quality of the narcotic, but never obtained possession of the contraband since the transaction was prevented by an arrest. Under current Florida Law without the <u>exchange</u> of goods and <u>transfer</u> of possession of the drugs, none of these defendants may be adjudged guilty of the alleged target crime of trafficking in narcotics. *See <u>Garces</u> 485 So.2d at 848, <u>Roberts</u> 505 So.2d at 549-550, and <u>Jefferson</u> 549 So.2d at 224.*

E. This Court should use its discretion in granting relief to Campbell

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