~~\^\

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLOREDA

STANLEY CAMPBELL,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,873

Day by Clark

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue presented to the First District Court of Appeal was whether the trial court had erred in refusing the tendered instruction, which was a direct quote from <a href="Garces v. State">Garces v. State</a>, <a href="infra">infra</a>. While not disagreeing with the principle announced in <a href="Garces">Garces</a>, the First District in substance held that the tendered instruction was an incomplete statement of the law and as such could have misled or confused the jury. It noted that the tendered instruction did not make it clear that the jury could consider the down payment made on the cocaine and the defendant's acceptance of the cocaine after testing it. To this extent there is no direct and express conflict between the decisions of the First and Third Districts. The First District's decision was correct, for the tendered instruction was an incomplete statement of the law as applied to the evidence and was covered by another instruction.

The First District, nevertheless, certified conflict with <a href="Garces">Garces</a> and Roberts v. State, infra, apparently because of its concern that these two cases might stand for the broader proposition that a prospective buyer can never be convicted under the trafficking statute because he does not obtain possession of the drugs until the deal is consummated. That proposition is incorrect. A prospective buyer's possession of the illegal drugs may be proven by his acceptance of the drugs as tendered by the seller.

### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE

[REPHRASED] WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE TENDERED INSTRUCTION, WHERE THE INSTRUCTION WAS AN INCOMPLETE STATEMENT OF THE LAW AS APPLIED TO THE EVIDENCE AND WAS COVERED BY ANOTHER INSTRUCTION.

By amended information, Campbell was charged with armed trafficking in cocaine by knowingly possessing, either actually or constructively, 400 grams or more of cocaine in violation of sections 893.135(1)(b)3 and 775.087, Florida Statutes (1987). (R. 25) Section 893.135(1)(b)3 provides:

- (1) Except as authorized in this chapter or in chapter 499 and notwithstanding the provisions of s. 893.13:
- (b) Any person who knowingly sells, purchases, manufactures, delivers, or brings into this state, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession of 28 grams or more of cocaine as described in s. 893.03(2)(a)4, or of any mixture containing cocaine is guilty of a felony of the first degree, which felony shall be known as "trafficking in cocaine." If the quantity involved:
- 3. Is 400 grams or more, such person shall be sentenced to a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of 15 calendar years and to pay a fine of \$250,000.

At trial, the State introduced evidence revealing the following facts: Campbell agreed to purchase four kilograms of cocaine for \$54,000 and made a down payment of \$3,000. Campbell placed a kilogram of cocaine on his lap, pulled some of it out of the bag, and tasted it. He was very satisfied with the cocaine and agreed to take it, stating that he was going to make crack out of it and that it would be good for the sniffers too. He

agreed to exit the vehicle to obtain his money to make the trade, and the undercover officer agreed to obtain the other three kilograms of cocaine. When arrested, cash totalling \$50,660 was found in Campbell's vehicle. (T. 20-21, 25, 36-37, 44-45, 49-51, 58, 61-62, 65, 70-71)

During the charge conference, defense counsel requested the following special jury instruction:

Temporary control of contraband in the presence of an actual owner for the purpose of verifying that it is what it purports to be or to conduct the test for quantity prior to completion of transaction without more does not constitute legal possession.

(T. 104-105) The trial court declined to give the aboverequested instruction, stating:

I think that the standard jury instructions are applicable here because I think that we have more facts in this case than they did in that one. I will deny that request for a special instruction.

(T. 105)

The trial court instructed the jury in pertinent part as follows:

Before you can find the defendant guilty of trafficking in cocaine the State must prove the following three elements beyond a reasonable doubt. One, the defendant knowingly possessed a certain substance; two, the substance was cocaine, or a mixture containing cocaine; three, the quantity of the substance involved was 28 grams or more and, four, the defendant knew the substance was cocaine.

To possess means to have personal charge of, or exercise the right of ownership, management or control over the thing

possessed. Possession may be actual or constructive. If a thing is in the hand of or on the person or in a bag or a container in the hands of or on the person or is so close as to be within ready reach and is under the control of the person, it is in the actual possession of that person.

If a thing is in a place over which the person has control over or which the person has hidden or concealed it, it is in the constructive possession of that person. Possession may be joint. That is, two or more persons may jointly have possession over an article exercising control over it and in that case each of those persons is considered to be in possession of that article.

If a person has exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge of its presence may be inferred or assumed. If a person does not have exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge of its presence may not be inferred or assumed.

### (T. 129-130)

Campbell was convicted as charged. (R. 28)

To determine whether error resulted from the refusal of a tendered instruction, the reviewing court should examine whether (a) the tendered instruction correctly states the law; (b) evidence in the record supports the instruction; and (c) the substance of the tendered instruction is covered by other instructions given. Munn v. State, 30 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1947) (no error in refusing to give requested instructions that either constituted a misstatement of the law as applied to the evidence or was covered by another instruction). The State will address each factor separately.

(A) WHETHER THE TENDERED INSTRUCTION CORRECTLY STATES THE LAW. In the instant case, the special jury instruction was a direct quote from Garces v. State, 485 So.2d 847, 848 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), with which the First District in principle did not disagree. The First District stated:

Therefore, while the special jury instruction could be seen as appropriate to this case, in view of the factors present here that are not present in <u>Garces</u> and <u>Roberts</u>, denial of the special instruction does not constitute reversible error.

Campbell v. State, 558 So.2d 34, 38 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)

What the First District in substance held was that the tendered instruction was an incomplete statement of the law and as such could have misled or confused the jury. It noted that the instant case was not limited to the defendant's temporary control of the cocaine to test it, but rather that the defendant had gone well beyond the testing stage by putting a down payment on the cocaine and by accepting the cocaine after testing it. The tendered instruction did not make it clear that the jury could consider these additional facts in determining whether the defendant was in possession of the cocaine.

The precise holding in the instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with the holding in <u>Garces</u>. What prompted the First District to certify conflict appears to have been its concern that <u>Garces</u> might stand for a much broader principle; i.e., that a <u>prospective</u> buyer can never be convicted under the trafficking statute because he does not obtain possession of the

drugs until the deal is consummated. This is even more apparent in a later decision from the Third District, Roberts v. State, 505 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). It is this principle with which the First District disagrees. In the instant case, Campbell did all that he could do to acquire possession of the drugs without actually consummating the deal. He made a down payment on the cocaine, and after he tested the cocaine, he accepted it. Whether Campbell might have subsequently withdrawn his acceptance of the kilogram of cocaine is irrelevant. At the moment of his arrest, he indeed had accepted it. 1

The dispositive factor for purposes of a prospective buyer's possession under the trafficking statute is his acceptance of the tendered cocaine. This is well illustrated in <u>Santiago v. U.S.</u>, 889 F.2d 371 (1st Cir. 1989). There, an undercover agent and a confidential informant delivered to three defendants a pair of shoes laden with cocaine. The confidential informant first handed the shoes to one defendant who then handed them to another defendant, and this defendant placed the shoes on a table without examining them. One of the defendants asked the confidential

It is very awkward to analyze this issue. The instant appeal involves the trial court's failure to give a requested jury instruction and the two cases with which conflict was certified involve the trial court's failure to grant the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal. Even if this Court decides that the Third District is correct, that does not resolve the issue of the tendered instruction. By approving the decisions of the Third District, Campbell could be entitled to a judgment of acquittal and still not be entitled to the requested instruction. Campbell challenges only the trial court's order denying the requested instruction, and this is the issue on which conflict was certified.

informant if he had brought an extra pair of shoes, and when he indicated negatively, this defendant directed another defendant to purchase him a pair of shoes. As the defendant moved toward the door, the agent reached it first and yelled, "Federal Agents."

In finding that the evidence was sufficient to support the conviction for possessing cocaine with intent to distribute it, the court stated:

In the present case, the informant had handed over his shoes to petitioner and his coconspirators. Delivery had taken place. for arrest, for all that appears, the cocaine would have remained in the conspirators' possession, at least until the next step of the transaction. We conclude that, for however briefly, petitioner, in conjunction with his co-defendants, had joint possession of the cocaine laden shoes. That arrest precluded defendants from enjoying the fruits of that possession is irrelevant. . . . [T]he drugs had been handed over to petitioner and his co-defendants. informant had unequivocally given up his shoes, and petitioner was about to go buy him new shoes. Delivery was complete. . . [T]he drugs had not only been brought to the room, but had been unambiguously turned over to petitioner and his cohorts. We find no merit to petitioner's claim of insufficient evidence.

Id., 376-377.

True, <u>Santiago</u> involved a controlled delivery, not a controlled sale, but there is no reason why the analysis applicable there should not apply here. The above result is consistent with that reached in the instant case (delivery and acceptance); in <u>Garces</u> (delivery but no acceptance), and in

Roberts (acceptance but no delivery). More precisely, in the instant case, Campbell accepted the kilogram of cocaine which was placed in his lap; in <u>Garces</u>, the defendants were examining the cocaine but were arrested before they had expressed their acceptance; and in <u>Roberts</u>, the defendants had accepted the bales of marijuana but were arrested before the bales were fully delivered inside the house.

Constructive possession is nothing more than a doctrine which was developed to broaden the application of possession-type crimes to situations in which actual physical possession could not be directly proved. Although the doctrine is often described in terms of dominion and control, these terms are merely labels used to characterize given sets of facts. When other evidence of possession exists there is no need to resort to the use of these labels. By way of illustration, in the criminal cases cited by Campbell that discuss this issue, except for Roberts, there was no evidence that the defendants had in fact accepted the items in question. Possession, therefore, had to be determined some other way. In contrast here, the State introduced evidence that the cocaine was offered to Campbell, and he accepted it. Possession was inherent in the acceptance.

The Legislature enacted section 893.135(1)(b), Florida

Statutes (1987) to reduce the distribution of cocaine in the

State of Florida. Purchasers of large quantities of cocaine are quite frequently apprehended as the consequence of reverse-sting operations, which are inherently volatile situations. If a very

narrow construction of the term, "possession," were applied here, as is urged by Campbell, it would be quite impracticable to ever convict a prospective buyer of trafficking in cocaine, even though he was apprehended while in the process of consummating a drug deal. The Legislature never intended such a result.

Campbell's argument that he never acquired possession of the cocaine because he was not free to leave with it until he had paid for it is a red herring. In a reverse-sting operation, the buyer is never free to leave with the controlled substance, and courts have consistently held this to be an irrelevant factor.

See, e.g., State v. Brider, 386 So.2d 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980)(J. Grimes); Angel v. State, 450 So.2d 292 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984);

United States v. O'Connor, 737 F.2d 814 (9th Cir. 1984); and Santiago v. U.S., supra, and the cases cited therein. To hold otherwise would erect an insurmountable impediment to undercover operations, which have long been a recognized and permissible means of investigation in drug-related offenses. United States v. Russell, 411 U.S. 423, 36 L.Ed.2d 366, 373-374, 93 S.Ct. 1637 (1973).

# (B) WHETHER EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE INSTRUCTION. While there is evidence in the record to support the instruction, there is also additional evidence in the record, which made the instruction incomplete and potentially misleading or confusing. True, the cocaine was only temporarily in Campbell's possession for the purpose of testing it. In addition to this evidence, however, is evidence that Campbell made a down

payment on the cocaine and accepted the cocaine after testing it.

Neither one of these facts applied in <u>Garces</u>, and the court,

therefore, did not take them into consideration in announcing its
holding, which constituted Campbell's tendered jury instruction.

(C) WHETHER THE SUBSTANCE OF THE TENDERED INSTRUCTION IS COVERED BY OTHER INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN. In the instant case, the standard jury instruction on possession was given. It defined, with elaboration, possession as "hav[ing] personal charge of, or exercis[ing] the right of ownership, management or control over the thing possessed." (T. 129-130) The instruction was couched in positive terms, from which it is clear that possession means something more than mere momentary physical control.  $^2$  On the other hand, Campbell's tendered instruction was couched in negative terms and served only to exclude from the definition one particular act. The standard jury instruction adequately covered the tendered instruction. Even with the tendered instruction, the jury would still have been in the posture of deciding whether Campbell possessed the cocaine based on his down payment and verbal acceptance of the tested cocaine.

The Ninth Circuit has held that the handling and testing of cocaine extensively during a two-hour delivery constituted actual possession. <u>United States v. O'Connor, supra.</u>

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussion, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.